MAYOR
Richard E. Roquemore

ubupq AT TRATOR
92

GEORGIA + EST 18 Michael E. Parks

CITY OF AUBURN
MAYOR and CITY COUNCIL
January 8, 2026
6:00 PM
Council Business Meeting
1 Auburn Way
Auburn, GA 30011

INVOCATION

PLEDGE

CEREMONIAL MATTERS

1. Oath of Office for Council Members

COUNCIL REPORTS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS

CITIZEN COMMENTS ON AGENDA ITEMS

NEW BUSINESS

2. Consent Agenda
a. Council Business Meeting Minutes December 11, 2025
b. Council Workshop Meeting Minutes December 18, 2025
c. Municipal Building Architect
d. Mount Moriah Rd (2026 LMIG)

VOTING ITEMS

3. Mayor Pro Tempore Appointment and Oath- Jack Wilson
4. Resolution for Charter Amendment — Jack Wilson

CITIZEN COMMENTS

ADJOURN

Agenda subject to change prior to meeting

CITY COUNCIL
Taylor J. Sisk

Jamie L. Bradley
Joshua Rowan
Johnathen Eggleston



MAYOR CITY COUNCIL

Rick E. Roquemore Robert L. Vogel llI

Taylor J. Sisk
CITY ADMINISTRATOR Jamie L. Bradley
Michael E. Parks Joshua Rowan

GEORGIA « EST 1892

CITY OF AUBURN
MAYOR AND COUNCIL
MEETING IN COUNCIL CHAMBERS
December 11, 2025
6:00 PM
Council Chambers
1 Auburn Way
Auburn, GA 30011

Present: Mayor: Richard Roquemore
Council Member: Robert L. Vogel 111
Council Member: Taylor J. Sisk
Council Member: Jamie L. Bradley
Council Member: Joshua Rowan

City Staff in Attendance: Michael Parks, Chief Hodge, Staci Waters, Brooke Haney, Marc Pharr
Also in Attendance: Jim Aton, Jack Wilson

Mayor Roquemore called the meeting to order at 6:00 pm.
Pastor Daniel Morganrath gave the invocation.
Mayor Roquemore gave the pledge.

Council Reports and Announcements

Mayor Roquemore asked for Council Reports and Announcements. Staci Waters announced that
the Municipal Complex will be closed for Business on December 16° 2025, from the hours of
11:30 am until 1:30 Pm for staff Christmas party.

NEW BUSINESS

Citizen Comments on Agenda Items
Mayor Roquemore asked for any citizen comments for items on tonight’s agenda. There were none.

Mayor Roquemore asked if there were any items to be removed from the consent agenda.
Council Member Bradley asked for Item g Fowler Farms phase 1A Final Plat to be removed from the Consent agenda
for discussion.

Item 1: Consent Agenda
a. Council Business Meeting Minutes- November 13, 2025
b. Council Workshop Meeting Minutes- November 20, 2025
c. Special Called Meeting Minutes Millage Rate November 18, 2025
d. Special Called Meeting Minutes Millage Rate November 18, 2025

Page 1 of 4



e. Special Called Meeting Minutes Millage Rate November 20, 2025

f. Special Called Meeting Minutes Executive Session November 20, 2025
h. Drinking Water Treatment Plant Change Order #4

i. Water Storage Project-Winder IGA

j. 2026 Holiday Closure and Events

Mayor Roquemore asked for a motion to approve the remainder of the consent agenda.
Motion: Made by Council Member Sisk to approve the items remaining on the consent agenda.
Second: by Council Member Vogel

Mayor Roquemore asked for any discussion, there was none. Votes were taken with all
members present voting yes.

Item g. Fowler Farms Phase 1A Final Plat

Council Member Bradley had discussion regarding the Final Plat.

Mayor Roquemore asked for a motion to approve Fowler Farms Phase 1a Final Plat.

Motion: Made by Council Member Rowan to approve the Final Plat in accordance with staff’s recommendations and
conditions.

Second: by Council Member Sisk

Mayor Roquemore asked for any discussion, there was none. Votes were taken with all

members present voting yes excluding Council Member Bradley voting no.

Mayor Roquemore asked for any Citizen Comments. There were none.

ADJOURNMENT: Mayor Roquemore asked for a motion to adjourn.

Motion: Made by Council Member Sisk to adjourn.

Second: By Council Member Bradley.

Mayor Roquemore asked for any discussion. There was none. Votes were taken with all members present
voting yes. Meeting adjourned.

Respectfully submitted,
Read and approved this Day of January 2026

Attest:

Mayor Richard E. Roquemore

Page 2 of 4



MAYOR CITY COUNCIL
Rick E. Roguemore Robert L. Vogel Il
Taylor J. Sisk

llbuPII CITY ADMINISTRATOR Jamie L. Bradley
92

CEORGIA « EST 18 Michael Parks Joshua Rowan

CITY COUNCIL WORKSHOP MEETING

December 18, 2025
6:00 PM
Council Chambers

1 Auburn Way
Auburn, GA 30011

Present: Mayor: Richard Roquemore
Council Member: Taylor J. Sisk
Council Member: Jamie L. Bradley
Council Member: Joshua Rowan

City Staff in Attendance: Michael Parks, Staci Waters, Chief Hodge

Mayor Roquemore called the meeting to order at 6:00 pm.

Council Reports and Announcements

Mayor Roquemore asked for Council Reports and Announcements.

Staci Waters announced that the City Holiday Schedule is as follows: the city offices will close
early on December 24™ at 3:00p.m. and will be closed on Christmas Day and December 26™.
Mayor Roquemore thanked Councilman Bob Vogel for his years of service to the city and
announced we will swear in Jonathen Eggleston at our January 8, 2026, meeting.

Council Member Bradley gave a year-in-review for 2025.

NEW BUSINESS

Item 1: Municipal Building Architect
Mchael Parks Presented
Placed on January 8, 2026, Council Business Agenda.

[tem 2: Mount Moriah Rd (2026 LMIG)

Michale Parks Presented

Placed on January 8, 2026, Council Business Agenda.
[tem 3: HB-581 Public Hearing Discussion
Michael Parks Presented.

Placed on January 8, 2026, Council Business Agenda.



[tem 4: Charter Amendment
Michael Parks Presented.
Placed on January 8, 2026, Council Business Agenda.

Council discussed the Election Districts, City Manager Authority, Mayoral Veto, and Board
Appointments and Terms.

Mayor Roquemore asked if there were any citizen comments.
Jonathen Eggleston- Spoke regarding the Charter Amendment Changes

Respectfully submitted,
Read and approved this Day of January 2026 Attest:

Mayor Richard E. Roquemore



MAYOR CITY COUNCIL

Rick E. Roquemore Taylor J. Sisk
Jamie L. Bradley
CITY ADMINISTRATOR Joshua Rowan
11 Michael E. Parks Johnathen Eggleston
GEORGIA + EST 1892

AGENDA ITEM: 2¢

TO: Mayor and Council
FROM: Michael Parks

City Administrator
DATE: January 2, 2026

PURPOSE: To approve CPL as project architect

BACKGROUND: As part of the Auburn Municipal Complex project, an additional
upstairs room was designed and approved for future buildout. Since the completion of the
complex, the original architectural firm has ceased operations. The City now requires a
new architect of record to complete the buildout. This architect will be responsible for
overseeing plan review and ensuring that all work meets current code requirements once
construction begins. The full scope of services is detailed in the attached fee proposal.

RECOMMENDATION: To approve CPL as the architectural firm for the buildout of
the upstairs room.

FUNDING: General Fund

ATTACHMENTS: Architectural Contract from CPL



November 17, 2025

via Email

Michael E. Parks, C.P.M.
City Administrator

City of Auburn

1 Auburn Way

Auburn, GA 30011

Re: City of Auburn
City Hall Suite Upfit Package

Dear Michael:

On behalf of the design professionals of CPL, please accept our letter agreement to provide
design professional services for the above referenced project and as follows.

Scope of Work:

1. We will complete Construction Documents, based on existing client documentation,
for the suite, including (but not limited to):

Code Assessment, Summary, and Life Safety Plan

Architectural Floor Plans & Details

Reflected Ceiling Plans & Details

Wall Sections & Details

Finish Plans & Details

Mechanical, Electrical, Plumbing Construction documents (plans & details)

2. CPL can provide support and documentation for the Bidding Process if requested for
an additional fee.

3. CPL could provide Construction Administration Services including RFI responses,
Shop drawing Reviews, Pay Application review and Certification, bi-weekly OAC
meetings (Owner, Architect, Contractor) if requested for an additional fee.

mo o0 D

Proposed Fees
CPL proposes a lump sum design fee arrangement for all disciplines (Architectural, Interior

Design, Mechanical, Electrical, Plumbing) as follows:
1. Construction Documents as described above: $15,430.00

Assumptions
1. CPL architectural and MEP documentation will be solely based on the previous client
provided documentation dated 12/11/2023 for Offices 211, 228, 229, 230, 231 & 232 only.
2. CPL assumes that all program, technical and finish requirements are still current for
these offices and will not be modified.

CPL Architecture | Engineering | Planning 3011 Sutton Gate Drive, Suite 130, Suwanee, GA 30024 770.831.9000 CPLteam.com



Michael Parks, City Administrator
City of Auburn

I November 17, 2025 | Page 2 of 4

3. CPLassumes no plumbing or fire suppression is required and will run all required basic
calculations based on previous design. CPL assumes there will not be major changes
to the mechanical or electrical requirerments,

4. CPL assumes that there will not be site visits required, only design work.

This Letter Agreement shall be administered in accordance with the Terms and Conditions
listed in Exhibit A, attached hereto.

This document, together with the exhibits identified herein, constitutes the entire in respect
to the services offered and my only be modified in writing signed by both parties. If this
agreement satisfactorily sets forth your understanding of the arrangement, please sign one
copy of the agreement in the space provided below and return it for our records and our
Notice to Proceed. This agreement will be open for acceptance for sixty days from the date
of the letter.

Please do not hesitate to contact us if you have any questions or require any additional
information. We are passionate about community projects and look forward to working with

the City of Auburn!

Sincerely,
The CPL Team City of Auburn Approval

WM

Cheryl Graeub, RID, LEED AP, WELL AP
Principal Printed Name, Title, Date

Authorized Signature

Cc: Lori Brothers, CPL

Enclosures Exhibit A - Terms and Conditions



E=

Michael Parks, City Administrator
City of Auburn
November 17, 2025 | Page 3 of 4

EXHIBIT A
TERMS AND CONDITIONS

1. CPL Architects, Engineers and Landscape
Architect, D.P.C (P.C) dba CPL shall provide the services
set forth in the foregoing proposal letter to the “Client”
therein identified. The signed proposal letter, together
with these CPL Standard Terms and Conditions, is
referred to as the “Agreement.” CPL shall perform all
services in a manner consistent with and limited to that
degree of care and skill ordinarily exercised by
members of the same profession currently practicing
under similar circumstances at the same time and in
the same or similar locality. CPL makes no warranty,
express or implied, as to its professional services
rendered under this Agreement. CPL shall perform its
services as expeditiously as is consistent with such
professional skill and care and the orderly progress of
the "Project” identified in the proposal letter. CPL
represents that it is properly authorized to provide the
services required by this Agreement in the jurisdiction
where the Project is located, and that professional
services shall only be provided by licensed individuals to
the extent required by law. CPL shall exercise usual and
customary professional care in its efforts to comply with
codes, regulations, laws rules, ordinances, and such
other requirements in effect as of the date of execution
of this Agreement. The Schedule for providing services
is set forth in this proposal letter. CPL shall not be
responsible for delays from any and all causes beyond
its reasonable control.

2. CPL shall furnish appropriate insurance
certificates for general, automobile and professional
liability, Worker's Compensation and Employer's
Liability, upon request.

3 CPL shall be entitled to rely on, and shall not be
responsible for, the accuracy, completeness, and
timeliness of services and information furnished by the
Client and the Client’'s consultants and information
from public records.

4. Construction cost estimates prepared by CPL
represents CPL's reasonable judgment as professionals
familiar with the construction industry. It is recognized,
however, that CPL has no control over cost of labor,
materials, or equipment, over contractors' methods of
determining bid prices, or over competitive bidding or
market conditions. CPL cannot and does not guarantee
that proposals, bids, or actual construction costs will not
vary from cost estimates prepared by CPL.

5. If required by the scope of services of this
Agreement, CPL shall visit the site at intervals
appropriate to the stage of construction to become
generally familiar with the progress and quality of the
work and to determine in general if the work is
proceeding in accordance with the "Contract
Documents,” as defined in the relevant construction
agreement. However, CPL shall not be required to
make exhaustive or continuous on-site inspections to
check the quality or quantity of the work. CPL shall not

have control or charge of and shall not be responsible
for construction means, methods, techniques,
sequences, or procedures, or for safety precautions and
programs in connection with the Work, for the acts or
omissions of the contractor, subcontractors, or any
other persons performing any of the work, or for the
failure of any of them to carry out the work in
accordance with the Contract Documents.

6. All  documents including drawings and
specifications prepared by CPL are “Instruments of
Service" with respect to the Project and CPL retains an
ownership and property interest therein, including the
copyright and the right of reuse. CPL grants to the
Client a limited, royalty-free license to use the
deliverable documents on the Project to the extent CPL
has been paid all fees under the Agreement. The said
deliverables are not intended or represented to be
suitable for reuse by Client or others on extensions of
the Project or on any other project. Any reuse without
written verification or adaptation by CPL for the specific
purpose intended will be at Client's sole risk and
without liability or legal exposure to CPL. Client shall
indemnify, defend, and hold harmless CPL from and
against all claims, damages, losses, and expenses
including attorneys' fees arising out of or resulting from
such unauthorized use or re-use of CPL's documents.
Any such verification or adaptation will entitle CPL to
further compensation at rates to be agreed upon by
Client and CPL. If CPL rightfully terminates this
Agreement for cause, the license granted in this Section
shall terminate unless the parties agree to an extension
of the license and appropriate fee.

7 CPL and Client agree to transmit, and accept,
Project-related Instruments of Service or any other
information or documentation in digital form either
directly, or through access to a secure Project website,
in accordance with a mutually agreeable protocol.

8. This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of
the State in which the Project is located.

9. CPL and Client agree to negotiate each dispute
between them in good faith during the 30 days after
either party provides written notice of dispute. If
negotiations are unsuccessful in resolving the dispute,
then the dispute will be mediated by the American
Arbitration Association unless another forum is
mutually selected. The parties shall share the
mediator's fee and any filing fees equally. The
mediation shall be held in the place where the Project
is located. If mediation is unsuccessful, the method of
binding dispute resolution shall be litigation in a court
of competent jurisdiction where the Project is located.
CPL and Client waive consequential damages for
claims, disputes, or other matters in question, arising
out of or relating to this Agreement.

10. This Agreement may be terminated by either



Ly

party upon seven (7) days' written notice should the
other party fail substantially to perform in accordance
with its terms through no fault to the party initiating
termination, or in the event the Project is cancelled. In
the event of termination, CPL shall be paid
compensation plus reimbursable expenses incurred in
relation to the services performed prior to the
termination date.

1. Limitation of Liability: To the maximum extent
permitted by law, the Client agrees to limit CPL's
liability for the Client's damages incurred in relation to
this Agreement or any services furnished by CPL to the
sum of $50,000 or CPL's fee, whichever is greater. This
limitation shall apply regardless of the cause of action
or legal theory pled or asserted. If applicable law
prohibits enforcement of this limitation of liability
provision as written, then, and only then, this provision
shall be deemed to be modified to provide the
maximum limitation of liability allowable under
applicable law.

12. Client and CPL each binds themself and their
partners, successors, executors, administrators, and
assigns to the other party to this Agreement and to the
partners, successors, executors, administrators, and
assigns of such other party, in respect to all covenants
of this Agreement. Neither Client nor CPL shall assign,
sublet, or transfer his interest in this Agreement
without the written consent of the other; however, CPL
may employ others to assist in the carrying out of duties
under this Agreement.

13 The services to be performed by CPL under this
Agreement are intended solely for the benefit of the
Client. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall
create a contractual relationship with, or a cause of
action in favor of, a third party against either the Client
or CPL.

14. CPL shall have no responsibility for the discovery,
presence, handling, removal or disposal of, or exposure
of persons to, hazardous materials or toxic substances
in any form at the Project site,

15. CPL shall be compensated as set forth in this
Agreement. CPL shall submit monthly statements for
services rendered and for reimbursable expenses
incurred. Payment is due upon receipt of CPLl's
Statement. If Client fails to make any payment due CPL
for services and expenses within 30 days after the date
of CPL's statement, the amounts due CPL shall be
increased at the rate of 1.5% per month (18% per annum,
or the maximum rate of interest permitted by law, if less
), from said 30th day. In addition, after giving seven (7)
days'written notice to Client, CPL may suspend services
until it has been paid in full all amounts due to CPL
under this Agreement.

16. Services which are in addition to those set forth
in the proposal letter which CPL agrees to provide to
Client are "Additional Services" which shall be

Michael Parks, City Administrator
City of Auburn
November 17, 2025 | Page 4 of 4

compensated as mutually agreed to by Client and CPL.
The parties shall agree in writing as to scope,
compensation and schedule prior to commencement
of any Additional Services. Additional Services shall
include, but not be limited to, services required due to:
(i) significant changes in general scope of Project
(including any changes made for budgetary reasons);
(ii) revising previously accepted Instruments of Service
as requested by Client, and/or (i) delays not the fault of
CPL.

17. This Agreement including any expressly
incorporated attachments, constitutes the entire
agreement between Client and CPL and supersedes all
prior written or oral understandings. This Agreement
may be amended only by written instrument signed by
both the Client and CPL.



MAYOR CITY COUNCIL

Rick E. Roquemore Taylor J. Sisk
Jamie L. Bradley
CITY ADMINISTRATOR Joshua Rowan
Il Michael E. Parks Johnathen Eggleston
csoncm EST 1892

AGENDA ITEM: 2d

TO: Mayor and Council
FROM: Michael Parks

City Administrator
DATE: January 2, 2026

PURPOSE: To repair and resurface the City of Auburns sections of Mount Moriah Road
(total mileage is 0.88 mile) in 2026 using the Georgia Department of Transportation’s
L.M.I.G. grant.

BACKGROUND: The City of Auburn received the annual Local Maintenance &
Improvement Grant (L.M.I.G.) application from the Georgia Department of
Transportation (GDOT) with a deadline to submit Auburn’s project by February 1, 2026.

RECOMMENDATION: To approve Mt. Moriah Rd as the project allocation for the FY
2026 L.M.I.G. funds

FUNDING: TSPLOST (30% Match)

ATTACHMENTS: N/A



MAYOR CITY COUNCIL

Rick E. Roquemore Taylor J. Sisk
Jamie L. Bradley
CITY ADMINISTRATOR Joshua Rowan
Michael E. Parks Johnathen Eggleston
GEORGIA EST 1892

AGENDA ITEM: 3

TO: Mayor and Council
FM: Jack Wilson

City Attorney
DATE: January 2, 2026
PURPOSE:

Discussion for Mayor Pro Tempore

BACKGROUND:

By a majority vote, at the first regular meeting of the council each year, the
council shall elect a councilmember to serve as the mayor pro tempore. The
mayor pro tempore shall assume the duties and powers of the mayor during the
mayor's disability or absence. If the mayor pro tempore is absent because of
sickness or disqualification, any one of the remaining council members, chosen
by the members present, shall be clothed with all the rights and privileges of the
mayor, and shall perform the mayor's duties.

RECOMMENDATION:
For council to elect a mayor pro tempore.
FUNDING:

N/A



MAYOR CITY COUNCIL

Rick E. Roquemore Taylor J. Sisk
Jamie L. Bradley
CITY ADMINISTRATOR Joshua Rowan
Michael E. Parks Johnathen Eggleston
GEORGIA EST 1892

AGENDA ITEM: 4

TO: Mayor and Council
FROM: Michael Parks

City Administrator
DATE: January 2, 2026

PURPOSE: To update the existing Auburn City Charter in accordance with proposed
amendments requiring Council approval.

BACKGROUND: Updates to the City Charter require discussion and approval by the
City Council. The following items have been identified for potential amendment:

o Election Districts (Section 5.11): Proposed district adjustments based on prior
Council discussions (see attached map).

o City Manager Authority (Section 3.13): Modification to reflect that all
department heads would report directly to the City Manager.

e Mayoral Veto (Section 2.29(f)): Review and potential revision of current veto
provisions.

e Board Appointments and Terms (Section 3.11(b)): Consideration of changes to
appointment authority and term structure.

This draft also includes proposed changes to the City’s overall “form of government”,
specifically relating to the election process and revising the position of City
Administrator to City Manager. Because these changes affect the structure of
government, any approved amendments must be submitted to the Georgia General
Assembly for final legislative approval.

RECOMMENDATION: Council discussion and vote to advance the proposed action as
presented by staff.

FUNDING: N/A

ATTACHMENTS: Resolution 06-025 and Exhibit A



Resolution No. 06-025

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF AUBURN, GEORGIA
FOR LEGISLATIVE APPROVAL OF A CITY CHARTER

WHEREAS, the General Assembly of Georgia convenes each year for a legislative
session; and

WHEREAS, the City of Auburn, Georgia desires to amend its Charter for the purposes of
updating the form of government to provide for a City Manager; to provide for the election of City
Council members in designated districts; and other purposes; and

WHEREAS, the Mayor and Council of the City of Auburn, Georgia believe that the
proposed updated Charter will serve the needs to of the City and is in the best interests of the
citizens of the City of Auburn; and

WHEREAS, the Mayor and Council of the City of Auburn have reviewed and approved
the updated Charter in the form attached hereto as Exhibit “A” and request the Legislature to
approve it;

NOW THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED by the Mayor and Council of the
City of Auburn that each of the State Representatives and State Senators elected for Barrow and
Gwinnett County should support legislation during the 2026 Session of the General Assembly
amending the Charter of the City of Auburn and adoption of the updated Charter in the form
attached hereto as Exhibit “A” by local act of the Georgia General Assembly in accordance with
the provisions of the laws of the State of Georgia.

IT IS SO RESOLVED this day of January, 2026.
Mayor Richard E. Roquemore Joshua Rowan, Council Member
Jamie L. Bradley, Council Member Taylor J. Sisk, Council Member

Jonathen Eggleston, Council Member

ATTEST:

Brooke Haney, City Clerk



Exhibit A

Section 1.

CHARTER

BE IT ENACTED BY THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF GEORGIA:

An Act creating a new charter for the City of Auburn, originally approved March 17, 1949 (Ga,
L. 1949, p. 807), as amended, is amended by striking Sections 1.10 through 7.15 in their entirety
and inserting in lieu thereof the following:

ARTICLE I. INCORPORATION AND:_P_QWERS

Section 1.10. Name.

This city and the inhabitants thereof, are hereby 1e1ncmp01ated by the énactment of this
Charter and are hereby constituted and declared a body politic and corporate under the name and
style of the City of Auburn Georgia, and by that namq;: shall have perpetual succesmqn_

Section 1.11. Corporate boundaries.

a.

The boundaries of this 01ty shall be those emstmg on the effective date of the
adoption of this Charter with such alterations as may be made from time to time in
the manner provided by law. The boundaries of this 01ty at all times shall be shown
on a map, a written description or any ¢ combination thereof, to be retained
permanently in the office of the city _clelk and to be designated, as the case may be:
"Official Map of the corporate limits of the City of Auburn, Georgia." Photographic,
typed, or-other copies of such map or description certified by the city clerk shall be
admitted as ev1dence inall comts and qhail have the same force and effect as with

_the 011g1nai map. .

The councﬂ may piowde for the 1ed1dwmg of any such map by ordinance to reflect
- lawful changcs__;n the corporate boundaries. A redrawn map shall supersede for all

- purposes the entire map or maps which it is designated to replace.

Section 1.12. Powels and constl uction,

&.

This 01ty. s_h_a_il__.have all powers possible for a city to have under the present or future
constitution and laws of this state as fully and completely as though they were
specifically enumerated in this Charter. This city shall have all the powers of self-
government not otherwise prohibited or limited by this Charter or by general law.

The powers of this city shall be construed liberally in favor of the city. The specific
mention or failure to mention particular powers shall not be construed as limiting in
any way the powers of this city.

Page 1 of 27




A proposed change to powers regarding police protection in this subsection must be
placed on a referendum and approved by a two-thirds majority of those voting:

Provisions of police protection. This city shall have the power of arrest through
duly appointed officers. The city must establish and maintain a police department
with minimum force of two full-time officers per shifi, twenty-four hours a day
and a chief of police to coordinate and direct the operation of this department,

Section 1.13. Examples of powers.

a.

Air and Water Pollution. To regulate the emission of smoke or other exhaust which
pollutes the air, and to prevent the pollution of ndtmal st1eams which flow within the
corporate 11m1ts of the city. S :

Animal Regulations. To regulate and licen_se_;_di‘ to prohibit the keeping or running at-
large of animals and fowl, and to provide for the impoundment of same if in
violation of any ordinance or lawful ordér; to provide for the disposition by sale, gift
or humane destruction of animals and fowl when not redeemed as provided by
ordinance; and to provide punishment for v101at1011 of ordinances enacted under this
paragraph.

Appropriations and Expenditures; To make appropriations for the support of the
government of the city; to authorize the expenditure of money for any purposes
authorized by this Charter and for any purpose for which a municipality is
authorized by the. laws of the State of Gemgla and to pIOVIde for the payment of
expenses of the city. L :

Building Regulatlon To 1egulate and to ilcense the erection and construction of
buildings and all other structures; to adopt building, housing, plumbing, electrical,
gas, and heatmg and au condltlonmg codes and to regulate all housing, and building
{rades.

:_"Busmess Regulation and Taxation. F 0 lcvy and to provide for the collection of
~ license fees and taxes on privileges, occupations, trades and professions; to license

and regulate the same; to provide for the manner and method of payment of such

i - licenses and taxes; and to revoke such licenses after due process for failure to pay

any city taxes or ._fc_:es.

Condemnation, To condemn property, inside or outside the corporate limits of the
city, for present or future use and for any corporate purpose deemed necessary by the
governing authority, utilizing procedures enumerated in Title 22 of the Official Code
of Georgia Annotated, or such other applicable laws as are or may hereafter be
enacted.

Contracts. To enter into contracts and agreements with other governments and
entities and with private persons, firms and corporations,

Emergencies. To establish procedures for determining and proclaiming that an
emergency situation exists inside or outside the city limits, and to make and carry

Page 2 of 27



m.

.

out all reasonable provisions deemed necessary to deal with or meet such an
emergency for the protection, safety, health or well-being of the citizens of the city.

Fire Regulations. To fix and establish fire limits and from time to time to extend,
enlarge or restrict the same; to prescribe fire safety regulations consistent with
general law, relating to both fire prevention and detection and to firefighting; and to
prescribe penalties and punishment for violations thereof.

Garbage Fees. To levy, fix, assess, and collect a garbage, refuse and trash collection
and disposal, and other sanitary service charge, tax, or fee for such services as may
be necessary in the operation of the city from all individuals, firms, and corporations
residing in or doing business within the city beneﬁtin'g"ﬁc)m such services; to
enforce the payment of such charges, taxes or fees; and to p1 ovide for the manner
and method of collecting such service char £es. :

General Health, Safety and Welfare. To dcﬁne regulate and pl()hlb}t any act,
practice, conduct or use of property which is ‘detrimental to the health, sanitation,

cleanliness, welfare, and safety of the inhabitants of thc 01ty, and to p1ov1de for the
enforcement of such standards. ek . ;

Gifts. To accept or refuse gifts, d011ati0ns;:'b'equeéis"01' grants from any source for
any purpose related to powers and duties of the city and the general welfare of its
citizens, on such terms and condmons as the donor or grantor may impose.

Health and Sanitation. To p1escube Standalds of llea]th and sanitation and to provide
for the enforcement of such standaids ; i

Jail Sentences. To p10v1de that peisons glven Jaﬂ sentences in the city court may
work out such sentences in any public works or on the streets, roads, drains and
squares in the city, to provide for the commitment of such persons to any jail, or to
provide for the commitment of such persons to any county work camp or county jail
by agreement: with the appiopuate county officials.

. ._'_-_._MOtOI V__eh_l_cles. T_o _I__egulaie the operation of motor vehicles and exercise control
~over all traffic, including parking upon or across the streets, roads, alleys and

walkways of the mty

~Municipal Agencles and Delegatlon of Power. To create, alter or abolish
departments, boards, offices, commissions and agencies of the city, and to confer

upon such agencies the necessary and appropriate authority for carrying out all the
powers conferred upon or delegated (o the same,

ML]IllClp&lDths. To appropriate and borrow money for the payment of debis of the
city and to issue bonds for the purpose of raising revenue to carry out any project,
program or venture authorized by this Charter or the laws of the State of Georgia.

Municipal Property Ownership. To acquire, dispose of, and hold in trust or
otherwise, any real, personal, or mixed property, in fee simple or lesser interest,
inside or outside the property limits of the city.

Page 3 of 27




.

Municipal Property Protection. To provide for the preservation and protection of
property and equipment of the city, and the administration and use of same by the
public; and to prescribe penalties and punishment for violations thereof.

Municipal Utilities. To acquire, lease, construct, operate, maintain, sell, and dispose
of public utilities including, but not limited to, a system of waterworks, sewers and
drains, sewage disposal, gas works, electric light plants, transportation facilities,
public airports, and any other public utility; and to fix the taxes, charges, rates, fares,
fees, assessments, regulations and penalties, and to plOVlde f01 the withdrawal of
service for refusal or failure to pay the same.

Nuisance. To define a nuisance and provide for 1’ss dbatement whether on public or
private property. e

Penalties. To provide penalties for violation of aiij? '01dinan'ee"s adopted pursuant to
the authority of this Charter and the laws of the State of Georg g,la

Plannmg and Zoning. To provide comprehensive city planning f01 development by
zoning; and to provide subdivision regulation and the like as the Council deems
necessary and reasonable to ensure a safe, healthy, and aesthetically pleasing
community, i

Police and Fire Protection. To.exercise the powel of arrest through duly appointed
police officers, and to establish, operate, or eonhact for a police and a fire fighting
agency, except as limited by Sectmn 1. 12(c). of this Chaltel

Public Hazards: Removal. To p10V1de for the destluction and removal of any
building or othel str uetule whleh is or may become: dangerous or detrimental to the
public. :

Public Ilﬁpiove111ents To plovide f01 'ﬂie acquisition, construction, building,
operation and maintenance of public ways, parks and playgrounds, recreational

acilities, cemeteues, markets and market houses, public buildings, libraries, public
+-“housing, airports, hospﬁals, terminals, docks, parking facilities, or charitable,
“cultural, educational, recreational, conservation, sport, curative, corrective,

detention, penal and medical institutions, agencies and facilities; to provide any

E .. other public 1mp10vements inside or outside the corporate limits of the city; to
“‘regulate the use of public improvements; and for such purposes, property may be

daa.

ab.

ac.

acquired by condemnation under Title 22 of the Official Code of Georgia Annotated,
or éueh_ether applicable laws as are or may hereafter be enacted.

Public Peac_e; To provide for the prevention and punishment of drunkenness, riots,
and public disturbances.

Public Transportation. To organize and operate such public {ransportation systems as
are deemed beneficial.

Public Utilities and Services. To grant franchises or make contracts for public
utilities and public services; and to prescribe the rates, fares, regulations and
standards and conditions of service applicable to the service to be provided by the
franchise grantee or contractor, insofar as not in conflict with valid regulations of the
Public Service Commission.

Page 4 of 27




ad.

ac.

af.

ag.

Regulation of Roadside Areas. To prohibit or regulate and control the erection,
removal, and maintenance of signs, billboards, trees, shrubs, fences, buildings and
any and all other structures or obstructions upon or adjacent to the rights-of-way of
streets and roads or within view thereof, within or abutting the corporate limits of the
city; and to prescribe penalties and punishment for violation of such ordinances.

Retirement. To provide and maintain a retirement plan for officers and employees of
the city.

Roadways. To lay out, open, extend, widen, narrow, establish or change the grade of,
abandon or close, construct, pave, curb, gutter adorn with shade trees or otherwise
improve, maintain, repair, clean, prevent erosion of, and light the roads, alleys, and
walkways within the corporate limits of the city; and to negotiate and execute leases
over, through, under or across any city property or the right-of-way of any street,
road, alley, and walkway or portion thereof within the corporate limits of the city,
for bridges, passageways, or any other pu1pose or use between bulldmgs on opposite
sides of the street and for other bridges, overpasses and underpasses for private use
at such location, and to charge a rental therefore i in such manner as may be provided
by ordinance; and to authorize and contro] the construction of bridges, overpasses,
and underpasses within the corporate limits of the city; and to grant franchises and
rights-of-way throughout the streets and roads, and over the bridges and viaducts for
the use of public utilities and for private use; and to require real estate owners to
repair and maintain in a safe condition the 51dewalks adjommg their lots or lands,
and to impose penalties for falhne to do so G

Sewer Fees. To Ievy a fee, char ge or sewe1 tax as necessary to assure the acquiring,
constr uctmg, equipping, operating, maintaining, and extending of a sewage disposal
plant and sewerage system, and to levy on those to whom sewers and sewerage
systems are made available a sewer service fee, charge or sewer tax for the
anlidblhty ot use of the sewers; to p10v1de for the manner and method of collecting
such service chal ges and for enforcing payment of the same; and to charge, impose

irand collect asewer. cconnection fee or fees to those connected with the system.

~ah.

Solid Waste D_l_sposal, To provide for the collection and disposal of garbage, rubbish
and refuse, and to regulate the collection and disposal of garbage, rubbish and refuse

" by others; and to, provide for the separate collection of glass, tin aluminum,

at.

cardboard, paper, and other recyclable materials, and to provide for the sale of such
items,

Specxal Aleas of Pubhc Regulation. To regulate or prohibit junk dealers, pawn
shops, the manufacture, sale or transportation of intoxicating liquors, and the use and
sale of firearms; to regulate the transportation, storage and use of combustible,
explosive and flammable materials, the use of lighting and heating equipment, and
any other business or situation which may be dangerous to persons or property; to
regulate and control the conduct of peddlers and itinerant traders, theatrical
performances, exhibitions, and shows of any kind, by taxing or otherwise; and to
license, tax, regulate or prohibit professional fortune telling, palmistry, adult
bookstores, and massage parlors.

Page 5 of 27



aj. Special Assessments. To levy and provide for the collection of special assessments
to cover the costs for any public improvements.

ak. Taxes - Ad Valorem. To levy and provide for the assessment, valuation, revaluation,
and collection of taxes on all property subject to taxation.

al. Taxes - Other. To levy and collect such other taxes as may be allowed now or in the
future by law.

am. Taxicabs. To regulate and license vehicles operated for hire in the city; to limit the
number of such vehicles; to require the operators thereof to be licensed; to require
public lability insurance on such vehicles in the amounts to be prescribed by
ordinance; and to regulate the parking of such vehlcles

an. Urban Redevelopment. To organize and oper ate an u:bau 1edevelopment program.

ao. Other Powers. To exercise and enjoy all other powels functions, rights, privileges
and immunities necessary or desirable to plomote or protect the safety, health, peace,
secur 1ty, good order, comfoxt convemence or genelai welfale of the city and its

powers giauted in this Charter as fully and compietely as if such powels were fully
stated herein; and to exercise all powers now orin the future authorized to be
exercised by other mumclpal govemments undei other laws of the State of Georgia,
and no listing of particular powers in this Charter shall be held to be exclusive of
others, nor restrictive of general words and phrases granting powers, but shall be
held to be in addition to such powers unless expressly pthlblted to municipalities
under the Constitution or applicable laws of the State of Georgia, except as limited
by Section 1.12(c) of this Charter. .

Section 1.14 Exercise b’f powers

employees. sha]l be camed mto executlon as p1 ovided by this Chaltex If this charter makes no
provision, such shall be carried into execution as provided by ordinance or as provided by
pextment laws of the State of Gemgla

ARTICLE I1. GOVERNMENT STRUCTURE

Section 2.10. Council creation; number; election.

The legisiative authority of the government of this city, except as otherwise specifically
provided in this Charter, shall be vested in a council to be composed of a mayor and four
councilmembers. The council established shall in all respects be a successor to and continuation
of the governing authority under prior law. The mayor and council members shall be elected in
the manner provided by this Charter.

Page 6 of 27



Section 2.11. Council terms and qualifications for office.

‘The mayor and councilmembers shall serve for terms as provided for in this Charter and
until their respective successors are elected and qualified. No person shall be eligible to serve as
mayor or councilmember unless he has been a resident of the city for one (1) year preceding the
date of election of the mayor or councilmembers and must be a qualified voter in municipal
elections for officers of this city; and the mayor or councilmember shall continue to reside
therein during his period of service and to be registered and qualified to vote in municipal
elections of this city.

Section 2.12. Vaeancy; filling of vacancies.

a.  The office of mayor or councilmember shall become vacant i_l_po_n the incumbent's
death, resignation, forfeiture of office, or removal from office in any manner
authorized by this Charter or the general-laWs of the State of Georgia.

b. A vacancy in the office of mayor or couuclhnembel shall be filled for the remainder
of the unexpired term, if any, as provided: f01 in thls Charter.

Section 2.13. Compensation and expenses

Mayor and councilmembers shall 1€cezve compensatlon and expenses for their services as
provided by ordinance.

Section 2.14. Holdmg othel office, votmg when personally interested.

a. Except as authonzed by idw, the maym or any councilmember shall not hold any
other city office or other city employment during the term for which he was elected.

b. - "Neither the mayor nor any councilmember shall vote upon, sign or veto any
st ordinance, 1esolut10n contract or other matter in which he shall receive a personal
YT pain, :

Section 2.15. .Ih"'festigations g

The council by snnple magonty vote may initiate investigations into the affairs of the city
and the conduct of any department, office or agency thereof, and for this purpose may subpoena
witnesses, administer oaths, take testimony, and require the production of evidence, Any person
who fails or refuses to obey a lawful order issued in the exercise of these powers by the council
shall be punished as provided by ordinance,

Page 7 of 27




Section 2.16. General power and authority of the council.

Except as otherwise provided by the charter, the council shall be vested with all the powers
of government of this city as provided in Article 1 of this Charter.

Section 2,17, Eminent domain,

The council is hereby empowered to acquire, construct, operate and maintain public ways,
parks, public grounds, cemeteries, markets, market houses, public buildings, libraries, sewers,
drains, sewage treatment, water lines, waterworks, electrical systenis, gas systems, airports,
hospitals, and charitable, educational, recreational, sport, curative, corrective, detention, penal
and medical institutions, agencies and facilities, and any other pubhc improvements inside or
outside the cily limits, and to regulate the use thereof, and for such pur poses, property may be
condemmned under procedures established under genelal law applicable now or as provided in the
future. -

Section 2.18 Meetings.

The council shall hold an organizational meeting on the first Thursday in Janvary. The
meeting shall be called to order and the. oath of ofﬁce shall be admmlsteled to the newly elected
members as follows: R

"I do solemnly (swear) (affirm) that T Wili"fdithfullyﬁélfOlm the d.uties of (Mayor) (Council
member) of this city and that I will support and defend the charter thereof as well as the
constitution and laws of the State of Gem gia and of the United States of America."

Section 2.19. Regula: and specml meetmgs

a.  The mayor and c1ty councﬂ shall hold 1egula1 meetings on the second Thursday and
- the fourth Thursday of each month at city hall at the time designated by the mayor
and city councﬂ With 1 proper notice as required by law, the mayor and council may,
. from time to time, change the designated meeting times for regular meetings. The
- mayor and council ‘may recess any regular meeting and continue such meetings on
“any date or hour it may fix and transact any business as such continued meeting may
be transacted at -any regular meeting, All such meetings shall be called and
conducted in compllance with the Georgia Open Meetings Act.

b. The counc_ll may hold special meetings and may transact business therein in
accordance with the law.

All meetings of the council shall be public in accordance with applicable law.

d.  Special meetings may be called at the request of the mayor or by two
councilmembers,

Page 8 of 27



Section 2,20, Rules of procedure.

a. The council shall adopt its rules of procedure and order of business consistent with
the provisions of this Charter and shall provide for keeping minutes of its
proceedings, which shall be a public record.

b.  All committees and officers of the city shall be appointed by the mayor, with the
advice and consent of the councilmembers, and shall serve at the pleasure of the
couneil,

Section 2,21. Quorum; voting.

The mayor or mayor pro tempore and two councilmemb_éfs Shaﬂ_ constitute a quorum and
shall be authorized to transact business of the council. Voting on the adoption of ordinances shall
be by voice vote and thc vote shall be 1ecmded in the mihuies but any membel of the council
Except as otherwise p10v1ded in this Charter, the afﬂmlatlve vote of the major 1ty of membeis
present shall be required for the adoption of any mdmance Iesolutlon or motion, -

Section 2.22. Action requiring or dmances

Acts of the council which have the f01ce and effecl of law shall be enacted by ordinance.

Section 2.23. Oldmance fmm procedmes .

a. Every pLOposed 01dmance should bc mtloduced in writing and in the form required
for final adoption The enacting clause shall be "The Council of the City of Auburn
heieby ordaiis .. and every 01d1nance shall so begin.

, .;'._:_An 01d1nance may be introduced by mayor or any council member and be read at a
" regular or special mecting of the council. Ordinances shall be considered and

... adopted or rejected by the councﬂ in accordance with the rules which it shall
o :ﬂ__establlsh

Section 2.24. C'éde_s_ of technical regulations.

The council may adopt any standard code of technical regulations by reference thereto in
all adopting ordinances. The procedure and requirements governing such adopting ordinance
shall be as prescribed for ordinances generally.

Section 2.25. Signing; authenticating; recording; codification; printing.

a.  The clerk shall authenticate by the clerk's signature and record in full in a properly
imdexed book kept for that purpose, all ordinances adopted by the council.

Page 9 of 27



b.  The council shall provide for the preparation of a general codification of all the
ordinances of the city having the force and effect of law. The general codification
shall be adopted by the council by ordinance and shall be published promptly,
together with all amendments thereto and such codes of technical regulations and
other rules and regulations as the council may specify. This compilation shall be
known and cited officially as "The Auburn Municipal Code." Copies of the code
shall be furnished to all officers, departments and agencies of the city, and made
available for purchase by the public at a reasonable price as fixed by the council.

C. The council shall cause each mdinance and each ¢ amehdﬁient to this Cha1te1 to be
amendments shall be made available f01 pur c_hase by the pu_b_l_1_c; at reasonable prices
to be fixed by the council. Following publication of the first code under this Charter
and at all times thereafter, the ordinances and charter amendments shall be printed in
substantially the same style as the code currently in effect and shall be suitable in
form for incorporation therein. The council shall make such further arrangements as
deemed desirable with the reproduction and distribution of any current changes in or
additions to codes of techmcai regulations and othel rules and regulations included
in the code. =

supervision of the City. Managel chlef of pohce ducctm of pubhc utilities, city piannel or other
department head solely through the appropriate depaltment head, and neither the council nor its
members shall glve 01dels to any_such ofﬁceL or employee either publicly or privately.

Sect_i__on':'_2”.:27. Election':t‘)"f_-_mayor;":f_m_‘feiture; compensation.

‘The mayor shall be elected for and shall serve for a term as provided by the charter and
state law and until his successor is elected and qualified. The mayor shall be a qualified elector
of this city and shall have been.a resident of the city for one year immediately preceding his
election. The mayor shall continue to reside in this city during the period of his service. The
mayor shall forfeit his office on the same grounds and under the same procedure as for
councilmembers. The compensation of the mayor shall be established in the same manner as for
councilmembers.

Section 2.28. Mayor pro tempore.

By a majority vote, at the first regular meeting of the council in each year, council shall
elect a councilmember to serve as the mayor pro tempore. The mayor pro tempore shall assume
the duties and powers of the mayor during the mayor's disability or absence. If the mayor pro

Page 10 of 27




tempore is absent because of sickness or disqualification, any one of the remaining
councilmembers, chosen by the members present, shall be clothed with all the rights and
privileges of the mayor and shall perform the mayor's duties.

Section 2.29. Powers and duties of mayor.

The mayor shall:
Preside at all meetings of the council;

b.  Be the head of the city for the purpose of service of pideeSG and for ceremonial
purposes, and be the official spokesman for the cﬂy and the chief advocate of
policy; - :

c.  Have power to administer oaths and to take':afﬁdavits;

d.  Sign as a matter of course on behalf of ﬂié city all written and appioved contracts,
ordinances and other instruments executed by the cﬂ;y which by law are 1equued to
be in writing; et - -

e.  Vote only in case of a tie or in case only 011e vote is needed to pass any motion,
resolution, ordinance, or othel question bef()le the council;

f.  Within ten calendar days of 1eee1pt of an 01dmance shall return it to the city clerk
with or without the mayor's appioval or with the maym 's disapproval. If the
or d1nanee has been dppmved by the 111ay01 Jit shall become law upon its return to

law at 12: 0_0:_110011 on the tenth cal_endal day aftel its adoptlon, if lhe ordinance 1s
disapproved, the mayor shall submit io the council through the city clerk a written
statement of reason(s) for the veto, The city clerk shall record upon the ordinance
the date of its delivery to and receipt from the mayor. Upon receipt of the mayor's
_veto statement, council may override the mayor's veto by a vote of not less than
three (3). council members; and

g Perform sueh 0the1 dutles as may be required by law, this Charter, or ordinance.

Section 2. 30 Conduct of membels of appointed boards.

Appointed b0a1d membezs shall adhere to the following code of conduct, and may be removed
for any of the following:

1. TFailure to atfend meetings; tardiness.

2. Conviction of a felony or crime involving moral turpitude.

3. Inexcusable absence without feave.

4. Abuse or misuse of City property.

5. Willfully giving false information to City officials, City staff, or the public.

Page 11 of 27



10.

11
12,

13.
14.

15.

Discovery of a false statement in an application which had not been previously
detected.

Acceptance of gratuities in conflict with City policy or State law.
Discourteous acts toward the public, citizens, staff, or other persons.

Drinking alcoholic beverages or use of illegal non-prescription drugs in such manner
as to adversely affect attendance or performance.

Falsification or destruction of official records or documents or use of official
position for personal benefit, profit, or advantage, or f01 othe; improper reasons.

Harassment of other Board members, City personnel 01 the public.

Insubordination or uncooperative attitude in the pmfonnance of official functions,
which is defined as the refusal to obey any instruction or directive of an authorized
official or demonsirating contempt or disrespect for a fellow board member, City
official, citizen, or staff’ member whether in or out of his or her presence,

Conduct which endangers the member’ 01 another peison

Fighting or attempting bodliy injury to othels on Clty property except in clear cases
of seli-defense.

Violation of the standards stiﬂihi&riz_eg:_l_ in the rééithls above.

ARTICLE L ADMI_NISIMTI'VE_AFF'AIRS

Section 3. 10 Admmlstl dtlve and serv1ce departments

a.

Except as 0thez wise p10v1ded in this Chaltez the council, by ordinance, shall
prescribe the functions or duties, and estabhsh abolish or alter all non-elective

offices, posmons of employment, departments, and agencies of the city, as necessar y

~for the proper admunstlatmn of the affairs and government of this city.

Except as oth_elwlse pmVl_ded by this Charter or by law, the directors of departments
and other appointed officers of the city shall be appointed solely on the basis of their

“respective administrative and professional qualifications.

All appointed officers and directors of departments shall receive such compensation
as plescubed by ordinance.

There shall be a director of each department or agency who shall be its principal
officer. Each director shall, subject to the direction and supervision of the City
Manager, be responsible for the administration and direction of the affairs and
operations of his department or agency.

Section 3.11. Boards, commissions and authorities,

a.

The council shall create by ordinance such boards, commissions and authorities to
fulfill any investigative, quasi-judicial or quasi-legislative function the council

Page 12 of 27




deems necessary, and shall by ordinance establish the composition, period of
existence, duties and powers thercof.

b.  All members of boards, commissions and authorities of the city shall be appointed
by the council for terms of two (2) years, except where other appointing authority,
terms of office, or manner of appointment is prescribed by State law.

c. The council, by ordinance, may provide for the compensation and reimbursement for
actual and necessary expenses of the members of any boald CoMmmMmission or
authority. :

d.  Except as otherwise provided by charler, ordinance or :l__)y"fléw, no member of any city
board, commission or autherity shall hold any elective.office in the city.

e. Any vacancy on a board, commission or authoﬂty of the c1t3r shall be filled for the
unexpired term in the manner prescribed herein for original appomtment except as
otherwise provided by this Charter or by law. E

f.  No member of a board, commission or authouty shall assume ofﬂce untli he has
executed and filed with the clerk of the city an ocath obligating himself to faithfully
and impartially perform the duties of his office, such oath to be prescribed by
ordinance and administered by the mayor or des1gnee

g.  Any member of a board, commlssmn or authouty may be removed from office by a
vote of the council. e

h.  Except as otherwise provided by' this Chaiitei"m by law each board, commission or
authonty of the city shall elect one of its members as chairman and one member as
vice- chauman and may elect as its semetaly one of its own members or may appoint
as secretary an employee of the city, subject to approval by appropriate department
head. Each board, commission or authouty of the city government may establish
bylaws, rules and 1eguiat10ns consistent with this Charter, ordinances of the city, or
law, as it deems appropriate and necessary for the fulfillment of its duties or the

:conduct of its affairs. COpiBS of such bylaws, rules and regulations shall be filed with
““the clerk of the city.

Section 3 12 Clty attorney..

The may01 w1th advzce and consent of the council, shall appoint a city attorney, together
with such assistant city attorneys as may be authorized, and shall provide for the payment of
such attorney or attorneys for services rendered to the city. The city attorney shall be responsible
for representing and defending the city in all litigation in which the city is a party; may be the
prosecuting officer in the municipal court; shall attend the meetings of the council as directed;
shall advise the council and other officers and employees of the city concerning legal aspects of
the city's affairs; and shall perform such other duties as may be required of him by viriue of his
position as city attorney.

Page 13 of 27




Section 3.13. City Manager; appointment; qualifications; compensation.

The council shall appoint a City Manager for an indefinite term and shall fix the
Manager's compensation. The City Manager shall be appointed solely on the basis of his
executive and administrative qualifications with special reference to the knowledge of and actual
experience in municipal management.

Section 3.14. Removal of City Manager.

The City Manager is employed at-will; shall serve at the pl_eastﬁ'.é'of the city council; and
may be removed from office by a majority vote of city council. Ry

Section 3.15. Powers and duties of the City Managel

(a) The city council shall appoint an officer whose title shall be 'city manager” and
the city manager shall serve at the pleasure of the city council. The city manager shall not be
subject to annual reappointments. The city manager shall be appointed without regard to
political beliefs and solely on the basis of his or her education and experience in the accepted
competencies and practices of local government management.

(b)  The city manager shall be the chief executive and administrative officer of the
city. The city manager shall be responsible to the city council for the administration of all city
affairs placed in the manager's charge by or under this charter. As the chief executive and
administrative officer, the city manager shall:

(1)  Appoint all and, when he or she deems it necessary for the good of the city,
suspend or remove any city employees and administrative officers he or she appoints, oversee
all aspects of human resources and employment for all city employees, except as otherwise
provided by law or personnel ordinances adopted pursuant to this charter, The city manager
may authorize any administrative officer who is subject to the city manager's direction and
supervision to exercise these powers with respect to subordinates in that officer's department,
office, or agency;

(2) Direct and supervise the administration of all departments, offices, and agencies
of the city, except as otherwise provided by this charter or by law;

(3)  Attend all city council meetings, except for closed meetings held for the
purposes of deliberating on the appointment, discipline, or removal of the city manager, and
have the right to take part in discussion but not vote;

4) See that all laws, provisions of this charter, and acts of the city council, subject
to enforcement by the city manager or by officers subject to the city manager's direction and

supetvision, are faithfully executed;

(5 Prepare and submit the annual budget to the city council;

Page 14 of 27



{6)  Subimnit to the city council and make available to the public a complete report on
the finances and administrative activities of the city as of the end of each fiscal year;

(7)  Make such other reports as the city council may require concerning the
operations of city departments, offices, and agencies subject to the manager's direction and
supervision;

(8)  Keep the city council fully advised as to the financial condition and future needs
of the city and make such recommendations to the city council concerning the affairs of the
city as the manager deems desirable;

(9)  Perform such other duties as are specified in this charter or as may be required
by the city council;

(10) Temporarily serve as a department head in the event of any vacancy;

(11)  Saupervise the purchase of all mdteuals supplies and equipment for which funds
are provided in the budget pursuant to the pmchasmg ordinance, City Code
Section 3.04; o

(12)  Execute all contracts, déeds' or.bonds of the City, duly authorized by the council,
and permitted by the City Chaltel ‘ordinance or by state law and supervise the
completion of all contracts foz w01k f01 the c;ty and adv;se the council on the
progress of such wmk ' R

(¢} Except for the pul pose of mquules and 1nvest1gat10ns under Section 2.15 of this
charter, the city council or its members shail deal with city officers and employees
who are subject to the direction or Shpelvision of the city manager solely through
the c:ly manager, and nelthel the city council nor its members shall give orders or

_supe1v1501y dnectlon to any such officer or employee, either publicly or privately.

(d) The cny manager's duties and responsibilities may be further defined or

provided by a job description or as assigned or designated by the city council.

(e) The city manager shall not continue in office upon qualifying as a candidate for
nomination or election to any public office.

Page 15 of 27




Section 3.16. City Manager, oath of office.

Before entering upon the duties of his office, the City Manager shall take an oath or
affirmation for the faithful performance of duties of such office.

Section 3.17. City clerk.

The city clerk shall be appointed by the City Manager. The city clerk shall be custodian
of the official city seal and city records; maintain council records as i‘equired by this charter; and
perform such other duties as may be assigned by the City Manager.:The city clerk shall not be
subject to annual reappointments. The city clerk shall not be a depaltment head; shall report to
the City Manager; and may be terminated at will.

Section 3.18. Police chief.

The chief of police shall be appointed by the City Manager. The police chief shall have
such powers and duties as the council shall prescribe by ordinance including, but not limited to,
the authority to administer oaths of office for sworn law enforcement officers. The police chief
shall not be subject to annual 1eappomtments The pohce chlef shall report to the City Manager,
and may be terminated at will. ;

Section 3.19. Director of public works. E

The director of publzc w01ks shall be appomted by the C1ty Managel The director of
public works shall have such powers and duties as the council shall prescribe by ordinance. The
director of public works shall not be subject to annual reappointments. The director of public
works shall report to the City Mdnagel and nlay be texmmated at will.

Section 3,20, Coinm_m_;ity 'I.)év:é:_llopment Direetor.

.. The Community Development Director shall be appointed by the City Manager. The
Community Development Director shall have such powers and duties as the Council shall
preseribe, The Community Development Director shall not be subject to annual reappointments.
The Commumty Devclopment Director shall report to the City Manager, and may be terminated
at will. L

Section 3.21. Parks And Leisure Director.

The Parks and Leisure Coordinator shall be appointed by the City Manager. The Parks
and Leisure Coordinator shall oversee and carry out the City's Parks and Leisure programs; serve
as the primary City staff liaison to the City's Parks and Leisure Commission; and perform such
other duties as may be assigned by the City Manager. The Parks and Leisure Coordinator shall
not be subject to annual reappointments. The Parks and Leisure Coordinator shall not be a
department head; shall report to the City Manager; and may be terminated at will.

Page 16 of 27




Section 3.22. Executive Assistant to Mayor and City Council.

The City Manager shall appoint an Executive Assistant to Mayor and City Council. The
Executive Assistant to Mayor and City Council shall have such powers and duties as the Council
shall prescribe. The Executive Assistant to Mayor and City Council shall not be subject to annual
reappointments. The Executive Assistant to Mayor and City Council shall serve at the pleasure
of the Council and may be terminated at will.

ARTICLE IV. MUNICIPAL COURT

Section 4,10, Creation; name.

There shall be a court to be known as the Municip_'a'l Court of the City of Auburn,

Section 4,11, Municipal judge; associate judge;:-';':'_'_

a. The municipal court shall be presided over by a :1111_11:ii6ipa1 judge or such part-time,
full-time, or stand-by judges as shall be provided by ordinance. The method of
selection and terms of such judges shall be provided by ordinance.

b. No person shall be qualified or eligible to serve as a judge on the municipal court
unless he shall have attained the age of twenty-one years, shall be a member of the
State Bar of Georgia, and shall possess all quahflcdtlons required by law. All judges
shall be appomted by councﬂ '

c. Compensau_(_)_n_ of the J_udgss shall be ﬁxed by ordinance.

d. Before assumiﬁé office, ecach jﬁdg'e shall take an oath, given by the mayor, that he
. will honestly and faithfully discharge the duties of his office to the best of his ability
-+ and without feal favor or pa1 tiality,

Section 4 12 Convenmg

The mumclpal court shali be convened at regular intervals as provided by ordinance.

Section 4.13. Jm’isdiéti_on; powers,

a.  The municipal court shall try and punish violations of this Charter, all city
ordinances, and such other violations as provided by law.

b.  The municipal court shall have authority to punish those in its presence for contempt,
by fine, as allowed by law, or fifteen days of imprisonment and labor on the public
works of the city, or by both fine and imprisonment.

Page 17 of 27




The municipal court may fix punishment for offenses within its jurisdiction as
allowed by law or imprisonment and labor on the public works of the city for one
year, or both fine and imprisonment, or may fix punishment by fine, imprisonment,
or alternative sentencing as allowed by law.

The municipal court shall have authority to establish a schedule of fees to defray the
cost of operation, and shall be entitled to reimbursement of the cost of meals,
transportation, and caretaking of prisoners bound over to supeum courts for violations
of state law.

The municipal court shall have authority to establish bail and recognizances to ensure
the presence of those charged with violations before ‘said court, and shall have
discretionary authority to accept cash or personal or real property as surety for the
appearance of persons charged with violations. Whenever any person shall give bail for
his appearance and shall fail to appear at the time fixed for trial, his bond shall be
forfeited by the judge presiding at such time, and an execution issued thereon by
serving the defendant and his sureties with a rule nisi, at least two days before a hearing
on the rule. In the event that cash or property is accepted in lieu of bond for secur ity
for the appearance of a defendant at trial, and if such defendant fails to appear at the
time and place fixed for trial, the cash so deposited shall be on order of the judge
declared forfeited to the city, or the property so deposited shall have a lien against it
for the value forfeited which hen shall be. enfmceabie in the same manner and to the
same extent as a hen f01 city pr opel ty taxes

The mumclpal court shall have the"s'ame authouty"as superior courts to compel the
production . of evidence in the possession of any party; to enforce obedience to its
orders, Judgments and scntences and to admlmstm such oaths as are necessary.,

_._:The_'__mun_icipai court may compel the presence of all parties necessary to a proper
- disposal of each case by the issuance of summonses, subpoenas, and warrants which
- may be served as executed by any officer as authorized by this Charter or by law.

“Each judge of the::nu_micipal court shall be authorized to issue warrants for the arrest of

persons charged \,\:_rit_h offenses against any ordinance of the city, and each judge of the
municipal court shall have the same authority as a magistrate of the state to issue
warrants for offenses against state laws committed within the city.

The municipal court is specifically vested with all the jurisdiction and powers
throughout the geographic area of this city granted by law to municipal courts and
particularly by such laws as authorize the abatement of nuisances and prosecution of
traffic violations.

Page 18 of 27




Section 4.14. Appeal to Superior Court

The right of appeal from the decision and judgment of the municipal court shall exist in
all criminal cases and ordinance violations cases, and such appeal shall be made to the Superior
Court of Barrow County or Gwinnett County under the laws of the State of Georgia regulating
appeals from municipal courts.

Section 4,15, Rules for court.

With the approval of the council, the judge shall have full power and authority to make
reasonable rules and regulations necessary and proper to secur_e_thé efficient and successful
administration of the municipal court; provided, however, that the council may adopt in part or in
toto the rules and regulations applicable to municipal comts The rules and vegulations made or
adopted shall be filed with the city clerk, shail be available for public inspection, and, upon
request, a copy shall be furnished to all defendants 1n ‘municipal court ploceedmgs

ARTICLE V. ELECTIONS AND REMOVAL

Section 5.10. Applicability of general law. -

All primaries and elections shall be held and .éonducted 111 accordance with the Georgia
Mumc:pal Election Code (Title 21, Chapter 3 of the Official Code of Geor gia Annotated), the
"Georgia Municipal EIectlon Code " as now or heleaftel amended.

Section 5.11. Flectlon of the Maym and Councnlmembel s,

a.

There shall be a mumclpal genelai election biennially in the odd years as provided

= _-'_by this Charter and state law on the Tuesday next following the first Monday in
“"November, = '

It is the intent of this section of the charter of the City of Auburn that the elected
officials of the City of Auburn serve staggered terms with the mayor and two
councilmembers to be elected in 2027 and every four years thereafter and with two
councilmembers to be elected in 2029 and every four years thereafter and .

The Mayor and each Council Member shall be elected by the electors voting in the
entire City at large. The Mayor may reside in any district of the City as set forth in
subsection (d) below. Each Council Member must reside in the district as set forth in
subsection {d) below that they qualify for both at the time of qualification for that
district post and throughout their elected service in that position. Each elector shall
be entitled to vote for one candidate for each municipal office which is to be filled at
any election. At the general municipal election conducted in 2027 and every four
years thereafter, the candidates who receive the highest number of votes cast for the
office of Mayor and Council Member posts 1 and 3 shall be the persons elected to

Page 19 of 27




those offices. At the general municipal election conducted in 2029 and every four
years thereafter, the candidates who receive the highest the candidates who receive
the highest number of votes cast for council member posts 2 and 4 shall be the
persons elected to those offices.

d.  There are established four council member districts of approximately equal
populations as shown on Exhibit “A” attached hercto and incorporated herein by
reference, The districts may be modified from time to time by ordinance as required
by this Charter, state and federal law. In amending district lines to achieve similar
populations in each district, the Council may take into account neighborhoods, roads
and other landmarks or land divisions that provide appropriate lines between districts.
The four districts shall each be represented by one council member who shall run for
and be elected to that district post. The four district posts shall be known as Post 1,
Post 2, Post 3 and Post 4. Any candidate for a council member- position shall quahfy
only for the post of the district in which they reside and shall demgnate the post which
the candidate is seeking when qualifymg The designation shall be entered upon the
ballot in such manner so that in the ensuing election such candidate shall only oppose
the other candidate or candidates, if any, d651gnatmg the same specific district post.

Section 5.12. Non-partisan elections,

Political parties shall not condu(,t pnmanes for city ofﬁces and all names of candidates
for city offices shall be listed without party- demgnatwns '

Section 5.13. Electlon by plut ahty

The person 1ecelv1ng, a phuahty of the votes ca%t for any city office shall be elected.

Section 5.14, Specml electwns, vacancies,

In the event that the ofﬁce of mayor or councilmember shall become vacant as provided
in Sectlon 2.12 of this Charter, the remaining council shall order a special election to fill the
balance of the unexpired term of such official; provided, however, if such vacancy occurs within
ninety days of the expiration of the term of that office, a successor shall be elected at the next
regularly scheduled election. In all other respects, the special election shall be held and
conducted in accordance WJth the Geor gia Municipal Election Code, Chapter 3 of Title 21 of the
Official Code of Gemgla Almotated the Georgia Municipal Election Code, as now or hereafter
amended.

Section 5.15. Removal of officers.

a. The mayor or councilmembers may be removed from office for any one or more of
the following causes:

(1) Incompetence, misfeasance or malfeasance in office;

(2) Conviction of a crime involving moral turpitude;

Page 20 of 27




(3) Failure at any time to possess any qualifications of office as provided by this
Charter or by law;,

(4) Knowingly violating any express prohibition of this Charter or City ordinance;
(5) Abandonment of office or neglect to perform the duties thereof;

(6) Failure for any other cause to perform the duties of office as required by this
Charler or by state law.

Removal of any officer pursuant to subsection (a) of this section shall be heard in an
investigative hearing conducted by the municipal court judge. The city solicitor shall
p1esent lhe city's case in the matter. The may01 or counclhnembel shall be entltled to

in his own defense

The hearing shall be conducted accmdmg to the followmg gene1 al rules of
procedure: :

(1) The city shall have the burden of p10vmg, its case by clear cmd co_nvmomg
evidence of the grounds for 1emoval elted in Section 5.15(a).

(2) The city solicitor shall issue a notice of _the mvestlgatwe hearing, which shall
contain in writing the nature of the charges and the specific sections or
subsections of Section’ 5. 15(3.) Wthh the maym or councilmember is alleged
to have violated. : g :

The general rules of evidence of the cour ts of the State of Georgia shall apply to the
hearing. The order of proof shall be that the city solicitor presents the city's case, All
Wnnesses shall be gwen an oath at the time they begm then tesllmony and all

the city sha__ll_ be subject to cross-examination by lhe mayor or councﬂmembel or his
counsel. At the conclusion of the city's evidence, the mayor or councilmember shall
- be allowed to present evidence and witnesses in support of his position.

. Atthe c'o'ﬁe:_lu_sion of the mayor or councilmember's evidence, the city shall have the
right to present rebuttal evidence. The mayor or councilmember shall be given the

i __opportunity to present rebuttal evidence.

. At the close of th'e .'evidence both sides shall have the opportunity to make oral

ar gument% to the mumcipal court judge regarding their positions on the evidence
presented. At that time, they shall also make any legal arguments necessaty to
preserve any issues and present them to the municipal court judge for determination.
Upon the conclusion of the hearing, the municipal court judge shall recess the
hearing to consider and review all of the evidence presented. The municipal court
Jjudge shall make a recommendation to the council regarding any removal or
disciplinary action for the mayor or councilmember under Section 5.15.

At their next regularly scheduled meeting, the council shall consider the
recommendation of the municipal court judge and shall either accept the
recommendations or make any amendment, revisions or modification to the
municipal court judge's recommendation. Any action to remove an officer, mayor, or

Page 21 of 27




councilmember {rom his office shall require majority vote of the remaining council.
The officer whose removal or discipline is being considered shall not vote on his
own removal or discipline.

h.  Any elected officer sought to be removed from office under this subsection shall
have the right to appeal from the decision of the council to the superior court of
Barrow County. Such appeal shall be governed by the same rules as govern appeals
to the Superior Court from lower courts.

Section 5.16 Terms of office.

Commencing with the election after the start of the term of Coimcil beginning January 1,
2026, and thereafter, no Council member elected or qualified for three consecuhve terms shatl be
eligible for the next succcedmg term based upon plewous elective service.

Commencing with the election after the start of the term of Council begmmng January 1,
2026 and thereafter, no Mayor elected or qualified for three consecutive terms shall be eligible
for the next succeeding term based upon previous elective service. The limitation of two
consecutive terms shall not overlap or run concurrent between being a Council member position
and a Mayor as the term limit period i is to the pamculzu elected position and are not to be
combined. S :

. ARTICLE VL. FINANCE.

Section 6.10. Pr operty tax

The council 111ay assess, levy and collect an ad valorem tax on all real and personal
property within the cor pmdte limits of the city that is subject to such taxation by the state and
county. This tax is for the purpose of raising 1evenues to defray the costs of operating the city
government, of p10v1d1ng govemmental services, for the repayment of principal and interest on
general obligations, and for any othel public purpose as determined by the council in its
dismetlon :

Section 6.11. -Miliage rate; dhe dates; payment methods.

The councll by or dmance shall establish a millage rate for the property tax, a due date,
and the time period wﬂhm which these taxes must be paid. The council, by ordinance, may
provide for the payment of these taxes by instaliments or in one lump sum, as well as authorize
the voluntary payment of taxes prior to the time when due.

Section 6.12. Occupation and business taxes.

The council, by ordinance, shall have the power to levy such occupation or business taxes
as are not denied by law. Such taxes may be levied on both individuals and corporations who
transact business in this city or who practice or offer to practice any profession or calling within
the city to the extent such persons have a constitutionally sufficient nexus to this city to be so

Page 22 of 27



taxed. The council may classify businesses, occupations, professions or callings for the purpose
of such taxation in any way which may be lawful and may compel the payment of such taxes as
provided in Section 6.18 of this Charter.

Section 6.13. Licenses; permits; fees.

The council by ordinance shall have the power to require any individual or corporation
who transacts business in the city or who practices or offers to practice any profession or calling
within the city to obtain a license or permit for such activity from the city and to pay a
reasonable fee for such license or permit where such activities are not now regulated by general
law in such a way as to preclude city regulations. Such fees may reflect the total cost to the city
of regulating the activity and, if unpaid, shall be collecied as provided in Section 6.18 of this
Charter. The council by ordinance may establish reasonable requirements for obtaining or
keeping such licenses as the public health, safety and welfare necessitate.

Section 6,14, Franchises.

The council shall have the power to grant franchises for the use of the city's streets and
alleys for the purposes of railroads, street railways, telepho'rié'companies electric companies,
cable television, gas companies, transportation companies and other similar organizations. The
council shall determine the duration, terms, whether the same shaﬁ be exclusive or nonexclusive,
and the consideration for such franchises; piowded howeVel no ﬁancinse shall be granted
unless the city receives just and adequate compensation therefore. The council shall provide for
the registration of all franchises with the city clerk. The council may provide by ordinance for
the registration wzthm a reasonable tlme of all ﬁanchlscs previously granted.

Section 6.15. Service charges

The councﬂ by 01dmance shall have the powel to assess and collect fees, charges, and
tolls for sewers, sanitary and health services, or any other services provided or made available
inside and outside the city limits of the city for the total cost to the city of providing or making
available such services. If unpaid such charges shall be collected as provided in Section 6.18 of
this Cha1tel

Section 6.16. Special assessments.

The council, by ordinance, shall have the power to assess and collect the cost of
construcling, reconstructing, widening, or improving any public way, street, sidewalk, curbing,
gutlers, sewers, or other utility mains and appurtenances from the abutting property owners
under such terms and conditions as are reasonable. If unpaid, such charges shall be collected as
provided in Section 6.18 of this Charter.

Page 23 of 27




Section 6.17. Construction; other taxes.

This city shall be empowered to levy any other tax allowed now or hereafter by law, and
the specific mention of any right, power or authority in this article shall not be construed as
limiting in any way the general powers of this city to govern its local affairs.

Section 6.18. Collection of delinquent taxes and fees.

The council, by ordinance, may provide generally for the collection of delinquent taxes,
fees, or other revenue due the city under Sections 6.10 through 6.17 by whatever reasonable
means as are not precluded by law. This shall include providing for the dates when the taxes or
fees are due; late penalties or interest; issuance and execution of FIFA's; creation and priority of
liens; making delinquent taxes and fees personal debts of the persons required to pay the taxes or
fees imposed; revoking city licenses for failure to pay any city taxes or fees, and providing for
the assignment or transfer of tax executions. :

Section 6.19. General obligation bonds. : .:_;.

The council shall have the power to issue bonds f01 the purpose of raising revenue to
carry out any project, program or venture authorized under this Charter or the laws of the state.
Such bonding authority shall be exercised in accordance with the laws governing bond issuance
by municipalities in effect at the time said issue is undertaken,

Section 6.20. Revenue bonds.

Revenue bonds may be 1ssued by the counc]l as state law now or hereafler provides. Such
bonds are to be paid out of any Ievenue ploduced by the project, program or venture for which
they were 1ssued RN

Section 621 Shdft&érm loans,
Th'e"city may obtain short-term loans and repay such loans not later than December 31 of
each yeal unless otherwise plovxdcd by law.

Section 6. 22 Flscal year.

The council shall set the ﬁscal year by ordinance. This fiscal year shall constitute the budget
year and the year for financial accounting and reporting of each and ever y office, department,
agency and activity of the city government.

Section 6.23. Preparation of budgets.

The council shall provide an ordinance on the procedures and requirements for the
preparation and execution of an annual operating budget, a capital improvement program and a
capital budget, including requirements as to the scope, content and form of such budgets and
programs.

Page 24 of 27




Section 6.24. Submission of budget to council.

On or before a date fixed by the council but not later than sixty days prior to the
beginning of each fiscal year, the City Manager shall submit to the council a proposed budget for
the ensuing fiscal year. The budget shall be accompanied by a message from the City Manager
containing a statement of the general fiscal policies of the city, the important features of the
budget, explanations of major changes recommended for the next fiscal year, a general summary
of the budget, and such other comments and information as he may deem pertinent. The
operating budget and the capital improvements budget hereinafter provided for, the budget
message, and all supporting documents shall be filed in the office of the city clelk and shall be
open to public inspection.

Section 6.25. Action by council on budget.

a.  The council may amend the budget proposed. by the City Managm except, that the
budget as finally amended and adopted must provide for all expendltmes required by
state law or by other piovxsmns of this Chaltel dnd f01 aiE debt service 1equnemcnts

later than the fifteenth day off the _ﬁ1st _month of the ﬁ_scal year. If the council fails to
adopt the budget by this date, the amounts appropriated for operation for the current
fiscal year shall be deemed adopted for the ensuing fiscal year on a month-to-month
basis, with all items: p101ated accmdmgly until such time as the council adopts a budget
for the ensuing fiscal year. ‘Adoption of the budget shall take the form of an
appropriations ordinance setting out the estimated revenues in detail by sources and
making appropriations according to fund and by organizational unit, purpose, or activity
as set out in the budget plepm atlon mdmance adopted pursuant to Section 6.23.

C, . .'-The 'am_ount set ou_t_:_m the adopted budget for each organizational unit shall

= constitute the annual appropriation for such, and no expenditure shall be made or
e encumbrance created in excess of the otherwise encumbered balance of the

s appmpnatlons 01 allotment thereof, to which it is chargeable.

Section 6.26.'Ta_x levies.

Following adoption of the budget, the council shall levy by ordinance such taxes as are
necessary. The {axes and tax rates set by such ordinance shall be such that reasonable estimates
of revenues from such levy shall at least be sufficient, together with other anticipated revenues,
fund balances and applicable reserves, to equal the total amount appropriate for each of the
several funds set forth in the annual budget for defraying the expenses of the general government
of this city.

Page 25 of 27




Section 6.27. Changes in appropriations.

The council by ordinance may make changes in the appropriations contained in the
current budget, at any regular meeting, special or emergency meeting called for such purpose,
but any additional appropriations may be made only from an existing unexpended surplus.

Section 6.28. Independent audit.

There shall be an annual independent audit of all city accounts, funds and financial
transactions by a certified public accountant selected by the council. The audit shall be
conducted according to generally accepted accounting principles. Any audit of any funds by the
state or federal governments may be accepted as satisfying the requirements of this Charter.
Copies of all audit reports shall be available to the public in accmdance w1th public open records
law. o

Section 6.29. Contracting procedures.

No contract with the city shall be binding 011 the city unless
a. Itisin writing; -
b. It is made or authorized by the ceuncﬂ and such approval is entered in the
council minutes. S

Section 6.30. Centralized purchasing, |

The council shall by 01d1nance pr eqcube plOCGdUleS f01 a system of centralized
purchasing for the city. e . L

Section 6.31, Sale of city propertv'

a. The councll may sell dnd convey any 1ea1 or personal property owned or held by the
01ty f(n goveimnental or other pulposes as now or hereafter provided by law.

b. "_-'The counc_li_may qu1€_clalm any rights it may have in property not needed for public
* purposes upon report by the mayor and adoption of a resolution, both finding that the
. property is not needed for public or other purposes and that the interest of the city
] has no readily ascellamable monetary value,

c. Whenevm in opening, extending or widening any street, avenue, alley or public
place of the city, a small parcel or tract of land is cut-off or separated by such work
from alarger tract or boundary of land owned by the city, the council may authorize
the mayor to sell or convey said cut-off or separated parcel or tract of land to an
abutting or adjoining property owner or owners where such sale and conveyance
facilitates the enjoyment of the abutting owner's property. Included in the sales
contract shall be a provision for the rights-of-way of said street, avenue, alley or
public place. Each abutting property owner shall be notified of the availability of the
property and given the opportunity to purchase said property under such terms and
conditions as set out by ordinance. All deeds and conveyances heretofore and
hereafter so executed and delivered shall convey all title and interest the city has in

Page 26 of 27




such property, notwithstanding the fact that no public sale after advertisement was or
is hereafter made.

ARTICLE VII. GENERAL PROVISIONS

Seefion 7.10. Prior ordinances,

All ordinances, resolutions, rules and regulations now in force in the city consistent with
this Charter are hereby declared valid and of full effect and f01ce untll amended or repealed by
the council. :

Section 7.11. Pending matfers.

Except as specifically provided otherwise by this Chaltel all ughts claims, actions,
orders, contracts and legal or administrative ploceedmgs shall continue and any. such ongoing
work or cases shall be completed by such city agen(;les pelsonnel or offices as may be provided
by the council.

Section 7.12. Construction. _
a.  Section captions in this Challel are 11]f01mat1vc only and are not to be considered as
a part thereof. i

b.  The word “shall_"-__is -ma_ndatory ahd the Viidrd i'iﬁay’! Is permissive.

c. The smgula1 shall mclude the plLual the masculine shall include the feminine, and
vice versa,. %

Section 7. 13 Sevel ablllty

If any ar ticle secilon subscctlon palaglaph sentence, clause or phrase of this Charter
shall be declared or adjudged invalid or unconstitutional, such adjudication shall in no manner
affect the other sections, subsections, sentences, clauses, or phrases of this Charter, which shall
remain of" full force and effect as if the section, subsection, sentence, clause, or phrase so
declared or adjudged invalid or unconstitutional were not originally a part hereof. The council
declares that it would have passed the remaining parts of this Charter if it had known that such
part or parts he1eofw_(mld:_be_deolaled or adjudged invalid or unconstitutional.

Section 7.14. Effective date.

This Charter shall become effective upon its approval by the council as provided by law.

Section 7.15, Repealer.

All laws and parts of laws in conflict with this Charter are repealed.

Page 27 of 27



Gwinnett
V.

Legislative and Congressional
Reapportionment Office

' |Black dots denote incumbent
‘\ councilmembers.

g Map layers
) ' Districts

CITIES2020

—— Pipeline/Pawer Line
— e Railroad ¥
Georgia Gerwral Acsersbly [ county
St 7 Covrrtel Legidatve Osice Ridg. 5 3 6
9
E ) Miles
X




	January 8 Business Agenda.pdf
	CITY OF AUBURN
	January 8, 2026
	6:00 PM

	MAYOR Richard E. Roquemore
	CITY ADMINISTRATOR Michael E. Parks

	December 11 2025 Council Business Meeting Minutes.pdf
	MAYOR
	CITY ADMINISTRATOR
	CITY COUNCIL
	Council Reports and Announcements
	Second: By Council Member Bradley.


	December 18 2025 Council Workshop Meeting Minutes.pdf
	Council Reports and Announcements

	4. Charter Amendment - Agenda Item.pdf
	MAYOR
	Rick E. Roquemore

	CITY ADMINISTRATOR
	Michael E. Parks


	3. Mayor pro tem.pdf
	MAYOR
	Rick E. Roquemore

	CITY ADMINISTRATOR
	Michael E. Parks


	January 8 Business Agenda.pdf
	CITY OF AUBURN
	January 8, 2026
	6:00 PM

	MAYOR Richard E. Roquemore
	CITY ADMINISTRATOR Michael E. Parks




